Eastern Kentucky University

Encompass

Honors Theses

Student Scholarship

Spring 2024

The Gendered Room and the Lock on the Door: Women Writers and the Patriarchy in Virginia Woolf's A Room of One's Own

Lauren Kelley *Eastern Kentucky University*, lauren_kelley19@mymail.eku.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://encompass.eku.edu/honors_theses

Recommended Citation

Kelley, Lauren, "The Gendered Room and the Lock on the Door: Women Writers and the Patriarchy in Virginia Woolf's A Room of One's Own" (2024). *Honors Theses*. 1025. https://encompass.eku.edu/honors_theses/1025

This Open Access Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Scholarship at Encompass. It has been accepted for inclusion in Honors Theses by an authorized administrator of Encompass. For more information, please contact laura.edwards@eku.edu.

EASTERN KENTUCKY UNIVERSITY

The Gendered Room and the Lock on the Door:

Women Writers and the Patriarchy in Virginia Woolf's A Room of One's Own

Honors Thesis

Submitted

in Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements of HON 420

Spring 2024

By

Lauren Kelley

Mentor

Dr. Susan Kroeg

Department of English

EKU Honors Program

Abstract

The Gendered Room and the Lock on the Door: Women Writers and the Patriarchy in Virginia

Woolf's A Room of One's Own

Lauren Kelley

Dr. Susan Kroeg; Department of English

This thesis analyzes the life of Virginia Woolf and her foundational feminist text, *A Room of One's Own (AROO)* to understand women's need for control in their journey to become Authors through Woolf's requirements of "500 a year and a room with a lock on the door." It discusses the significance of becoming a capital *A* Author and how authorship impacted women's lives in the eighteenth, nineteenth, and even twentieth centuries. Through a summary of Woolf's historicizing of women writers' struggles this thesis investigates the impact these struggles had on how women wrote—often resulting in anger and anonymous authorship. Through an examination of Woolf's historicizing, the implications of Woolf's requirement of both the Room and the Lock and how it relates to gender, control, and autonomy becomes clear. This evolved to a discussion of the solutions Woolf envisioned in *A Room of One's Own* and how women's struggles, while improved, still impact women writers today in their efforts to become an Author—as seen by the struggle of women to work uninterrupted during the pandemic as well as the negative reputation of romance literature perceived by contemporary readers.

Keywords and phrases: Virginia Woolf, "a room of one's own," Author, gender, the Lock, the Room, women writers, honors thesis.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract	2
Acknowledgements	4
Introduction	5
Biography	6
A Room of One's Own	.10
<u>A</u> uthor	.11
Anxiety of Authorship	.12
Historicizing in AROO	.13
The Fictitious Narrator	.14
"Judith Shakespeare"	.16
Restrictions of the Domestic Sphere	· • • • •
Anger in Women Writers	.18
Anonymity	.20
Lost Authors	.23
Patriarchal "Partnership"	.24
Patriarchal Control	.27
Woolf's Solutions: The Room and The Lock	.28
The Room.	
The Lock	.31
Conclusion	.37
Works Cited	.40
Works Consulted	.44

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Dr. Susan Kroeg for her invaluable patience and consistent feedback. Her aid in finding sources and contribution to the revision process was vital to the completion of this thesis. Her patience in redirecting my digressions on Mary Shelley and my long-winded tangents did not go unnoticed; I could not have done it without her.

I am also so grateful to my colleagues and friends for their help in revisions, late-night editing sessions, and moral support. I would like to specifically thank Jay Adams and Dana Kendrick at the Noel Studio for their help in both the research process—helping me find sources at the beginning of my journey—and the revising process.

Additionally, I want to thank my friends and family who supported me in my many late-night writing sessions and reminded me of my goals when I faltered in my passion for this project.

Finally, I would like to thank the EKU Honors program for providing me with the opportunity to become an Author myself and bring attention to the struggles of women everywhere to gain Authorial identity.

Introduction

Virginia Woolf's text on women and fiction, A Room of One's Own (AROO), highlights the challenges women must face in their efforts to become authors and calls attention to the implication of gender within the literary canon. She uses these significant issues to demand a change, stating that women need "five hundred a year and a room with a lock on the door," so that they may write fiction (Woolf 103). Woolf's essay has become a foundational piece of the literary canon, inspiring a wide variety of other works that expound upon her most popular points: gender disparity within academia, the issues of authorship women writers experienced, and the requirements needed for women to write fiction. While present-day literary scholars have been aware of the challenges women faced in the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries, Woolf's metaphor of the room and the lock requires further exploration. Specifically, the abrupt inclusion of Woolf's requirement of the lock on the door and the ever-present imagery of confinement that precedes it not only in Woolf's literature but also in works written by women writers throughout history needs to be addressed. From Woolf's requirements of the room and the lock, I concluded that while Woolf famously called for women writers to have "a room of their own," my analysis of Woolf's history, A Room of One's Own, and other contemporary works demonstrates the necessity of women to have control over their own work, environment, and authorial identity, symbolized for Woolf by a lock on the door of the room.

This thesis will address the questions: What were the challenges women faced in their attempts to become Authors in the eighteenth, nineteenth, and twentieth centuries? How did Virginia Woolf's own life impact the way she viewed the struggles of women writers and the conception of *AROO*? Historically, through the lens of Woolf's text, what happened when women endeavored to write? What does it mean to be an Author? What is the significance of the

evolution of the use of the lock in Woolf's *AROO*, and what are the implications for other works written by women? What are the modern-day implications of Woolf's solutions to the struggles of female Authorship?

In order to answer these questions, I will analyze the life of Virginia Woolf and the writing and content of her most prolific work, *AROO*; define what it means to be a Capital *A* Author and the patriarchal etymology of *author*; investigate how the idea of Authorship often led to anxiety on women writers; examine the process of historicizing that Woolf employs in her efforts to explain the struggles and solutions of Authorship; identify the implicit partnership between men and women in creative works and the imbalance of Authorial power that occurs as a result of the patriarchal control men are born with; reiterate the solutions Woolf argues for; and investigate how the Room and the Lock represent more than the physical room and lock that Woolf is requesting. By doing this, I will be able to come to a conclusion on the modern-day implications of Woolf's argument in *AROO*.

Biography

Virginia Woolf was a legendary author of foundational feminist and intellectual literature in the twentieth century. Woolf was a twentieth-century modernist author well-known for her non-linear narratives and stream-of-consciousness writing style. Born in 1882 to Leslie and Julia Stephen, Adeline "Virginia" Woolf was the seventh of eight children, four of whom were boys and four of whom were girls. Woolf would become very close with a select few of her siblings who would become key players in her exploration of intellectualism.

Woolf was surrounded by intellectualism from an early age; her mother and father knew many contemporary intellectuals and were close friends with writers such as George Meredith, Thomas Hardy, and Henry James, as well as many others who likely frequented the home (Gubar ix). However, Woolf was limited in her active pursuit of education, her only education being access to her father's private library and a few Greek and Latin lessons at King's College. While "allowing a girl of fifteen the free run of a large and quite unexpurgated library' [was]—an unusual opportunity...and evidence of the high regard Sir Leslie had for his daughter's intellectual talents," Woolf held some bitterness for the homeschooling she received in comparison to her brothers' and step-brothers' private and university educations (Gubar xi).

The inequality of education among siblings was reflected throughout Woolf's childhood in her parents' perspectives on education coupled with the societal expectations of gender; Woolf's parents differed drastically in their opinions of women's education. Her father believed women should be as educated as men—a progressive view of education for the time.

Nevertheless, he gave his daughters a limited education by homeschooling while sending his sons to receive a formal education. Meanwhile, Woolf's mother believed that women were best suited for household services, a mindset that continued after her death through Woolf's sister, Vanessa Bell, who took up the domestic duties in her place.

However, Woolf's access to intellectual pursuits soon expanded after her father's death. After Sir Leslie's death, Woolf and three of her siblings—Vanessa, Thoby, and Adrian—moved to a house in Bloomsbury, London. This became the location of the famous "Bloomsbury Group," a diverse collection of individuals including Vanessa Bell, Clive Bell, Leonard Woolf, John Maynard Keynes, Roger Fry, E.M. Forster, Lytton Strachey, Sir Desmond MacCarthy, and Duncan Grant. Together, these members allowed Woolf to gain frequent access to an evergrowing intellectual community; they encouraged Woolf to expand her perspective on life and increase her intellectual and academic achievements.

One year after her father's death, Woolf's freedom had increased, and she began to become quite notable within the literary community, providing her not only intellectual independence but also a sense of financial independence from her father's leftover funds. As an academic outlet, and with her newfound financial freedom, Woolf was able to pursue a wide range of passions including access to education for others—which she was denied in her own childhood. Though she did not particularly enjoy it, Woolf began teaching weekly adult education classes at Morley College for free. Additionally, later in life, Woolf and her husband Leonard Woolf would establish the Hogarth Press, a means for Woolf to advocate for young radical authors by having the means to publish them herself. But before Woolf would be able to have the complete stability to open a printing press, yet another family tragedy would occur. In 1909, the most important thing in Woolf's career occurred: her aunt died.

Woolf's aunt, Caroline Emelia Stephen, or "Aunt Mary," was an unmarried, published writer herself and a source of peaceful respite for Woolf during times of mental stress. Caroline Stephen also lacked a formal education and yet was a successful published author who encouraged Woolf's own writing. When she died, her aunt left Woolf a legacy of £2,500 as a stipend to her savings from her father's estate. This inheritance gave Woolf previously unknown financial security and social independence from the unwanted expectations of domesticity.

It was as a result of her aunt's encouragement that Woolf published her very first article at the end of 1904 in the *Guardian*. Despite the significance of this publication for the future of Woolf's literary career, this was not the first instance of Woolf picking up a pen. It is thought that Woolf began consistently writing after the death of her mother and of many other close family members; she began a diary she would keep sporadically until her death. This diary acted less like a diary and more like a place for Woolf to describe daily occurrences, reviews of her

personal readings, and impressions and interactions with people—the skill of human observation, as Woolf herself acknowledges, transfers well into training women into becoming good novelists (Gubar x). Yet a consequence of this emotional turmoil, often seen in her diary, was an everpresent struggle with depression and mania; this culminated in a sense of imposter syndrome as both a woman and a writer throughout her life.

Despite her tumultuous mental health, Woolf would go on to write a variety of essays, reviews, and novels that often discussed the importance of womanhood, intersectionality, independence, gender, creativity versus intellect, and community. In her lifetime, Woolf would publish more than five hundred essays and reviews (Gubar xv). A significant period in her literary career was the publication of anonymous reviews and essays for the *Times Literary* Supplement (TLS). Despite her later campaigning for women's rights to be visible and open within the public sphere¹, in the beginning of her career, Woolf accepted the limitations of the expectations placed on women authors in the nineteenth century such as anonymity, the struggles to establish an authorial identity in a patriarchal literary field, and the lack of private space. This acceptance changed with the publishing of Night and Day in 1919 which depicted both men and women freely talking within the public sphere (Fernald 159). Woolf began to grow frustrated with publishing anonymously and began to wish for women to be more easily accepted into the public sphere. In short, Woolf wished for women to gain access to the public sphere and be able to make a living as a "respected mainstream cultural authority without giving up her feminism or her independence of mind" (Fernald 159).

¹ Mary Wollstonecraft's *A Vindication of the Rights of Women* discusses the opportunity of women to leave what she refers to as the domestic or private sphere—the duties of the household—and enter into the public sphere where traditionally only men resided to gain access to equal opportunity education. Woolf uses her terms when discussing women's struggles to gain access to education in order to become writers.

This line of thinking follows Woolf throughout her writing after 1919; as she gained prestige writing for the *TLS*, she used her literary voice to establish respect and reputation, even anonymously. This was a considerable opportunity for a female author whose main themes of literature were the challenges women faced trying to express themselves in a male-dominated culture (Fernald 161). Woolf's feminist perspective on women in the public sphere and their inclusion in the literary canon and her frustration with their absence acted as a large inspiration for the writing of her revolutionary feminist literary work, *AROO*.

A Room of One's Own

AROO was a culmination of many years' worth of literary experience. The foundational feminist text started as a lecture series given to the women's colleges of Cambridge University, which then sparked the writing of the article "Women and Fiction," later expanded to the book Women & Fiction until finally being revised, completed, and renamed AROO. AROO is said to have been formed during a brief period of illness in which she was confined to a bed; "Woolf began making up Women & Fiction in her head as she lay in bed" (Rosenbaum xxii). However, interestingly, "[t]here are no indications in the manuscript or her diary that she referred to the Cambridge lectures while composing the book that was based on them" (Rosenbaum xxiii). The uncertainty of the complete origins of her most prolific work provides a representation of its evolutionary significance to feminist literature and the issue of women's literary history—as will be argued in this paper.

Woolf's essay, *AROO*, highlights the challenges women faced in their efforts to become authors and calls attention to the implication of gender within the literary canon. She uses these significant issues to demand a change: that women should earn "five hundred a year and [need] a

room with a lock on the door" so that they may write fiction (Woolf 103). Woolf's essay became a foundational piece of the literary canon, inspiring a wide variety of other works that expound upon her most popular points: gender disparity of opportunity to participate in intellectual pursuits, the issues of authorship women writers experienced, and the requirements needed for women to write fiction. However, certain aspects of Woolf's essay have not been properly examined. While present-day scholars made note of the challenges women faced, there is still more to take away from a close examination of Woolf's metaphor of the room with a lock on the door and the impact of gender on women, writing, and the room. From Woolf's own argument, I concluded that while Woolf famously called for women writers to have "a room of their own," my analysis of Woolf's history, *A Room of One's Own*, and other contemporary works demonstrates the necessity of women to have control over their own work, environment, and authorial identity, symbolized for Woolf by a lock on the door of the room.

Author

Before tackling the complexities of Virginia Woolf's *AROO* and the work's impact on the feminist literary canon, I will define what it truly means to be an Author and gain authorship. It is important to note the capital *A* of Author as a unique term to be used in this paper to describe women writers who have managed to overcome the hurdles of their time and enter into the public sphere as accomplished writers, recognized either by their contemporaries or by modern critique, without a focus on their femininity—it is gender neutral. Woolf herself does not provide an implicit definition of an Author but describes a successful woman writer as one who composes beyond the limits of her sex, one who does not adopt the male structure but who creates her own way of writing against the literary canon and becomes what Woolf defines as the "androgynous"

mind" (AROO 97-103). She believes pure literary genius can only be found in an "androgynous mind."

The foundational voices in late-twentieth-century feminist literary criticism, Sandra M. Gilbert and Susan Gubar, do however provide the etymology of *author*, giving readers an understanding of just how critical it is that I use a specific term when referring to successful female writers of the eighteenth- and nineteenth-centuries. They define *author* as "a person who originates or gives existence to something, a begetter, beginner, father, or ancestor, a person who sets forth written statements" highlighting that "there is the imagery of succession, of paternity, or hierarchy" in the standard use of the word author (Gilbert and Gubar 4). I wish to abandon this etymology and use the term *Author* (capitalized) to emphasize that this is not a writer with established paternal or fatherly succession, but a neutral writer prized by their merit alone, not by their sex.

Anxiety of Authorship

The effort involved in becoming an Author has been known to create apprehension in women. This apprehension has been identified by Gilbert and Gubar as an "'Anxiety of authorship'—a radical fear that she cannot create, that because she can never become a 'precursor' the act of writing will isolate or destroy her" (49). Since most of the literary canon has been established by men for men—as a result of the patriarchal foundations of the literary canon—women often struggle to gain the courage to even attempt Authorship (Gilbert and Gubar 74).

An example of the anxiety of authorship as a result of the societal expectations of women in the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries can be seen in this quote from Mary Jean Corbett:

"[She] expresses her desire not to be thought exceptional—and thus unwomanly—mainly in terms of her distaste for the stereotypical literary woman...forfeiting her femininity in her quest for publicity, comes to represent the extraordinary and unnatural woman rather than the conventional and unexceptional one" (18). Not only were women fearful of becoming Authors as a result of the patriarchal precedent of the literary canon, but if they were to attempt it, they were judged by both men and women. This judgment can be seen in a multitude of ways but is succinctly summarized by Gilbert and Gubar when describing the specific struggles of the anxiety of Authorship women faced: "If becoming an *author* meant mistaking one's 'sex and way,' if it meant becoming 'unsexed' or perversely sexed female, then it meant becoming a monster or freak" (34). Women were deemed "unwomanly," "other," and "unnatural" just for attempting to exit the domestic sphere and enter into the public eye.

Historicizing in AROO

Throughout the writing of *AROO* Woolf offers a reflection on women writers' historical struggles to illustrate her present-day issues. Through her narrative frame, Woolf tackles the many problems women have faced: the poverty of women throughout history, what would happen if a woman had attempted to become an Author during Shakespeare's time, the lack of formal education women have faced, and the absence of control over one's own space. She, additionally, offers a variety of examples of specific women authors and explains what exactly they needed in order to become successful Authors. Woolf introduces the impact of the domestic sphere on the works of well-known writers like Charlotte Perkins Gilman. She emphasizes the anger evident in the works of authors such as the Duchess Margaret of Cavendish and Lady Winchelsea, and how it often limited the Authorial talent of authors like Charlotte Brontë,

distracting from the core genius of their works. Woolf also expands upon the Authorial identity of women writers such as Mary Shelley, George Eliot (Mary Ann Evans), and the Brontë sisters. She highlights their connection to the label of anonymous Author and the inclination of women writers to seek safety behind the veil of a male pseudonym.

Woolf does all this while utilizing consistent imagery of the lock as a way to illustrate how women are locked in and the situations and individuals they might have benefited from locking out if they had the power to do so. She presents the preceding examples in order to emphasize the need of women writers to succeed in overcoming the restrictions and limitations of their situations and argue the importance of avoiding the pitfalls of anonymity and anger in order to become Authors. Woolf continuously offers the solution of money and a physical space to retreat to throughout her historicizing if women were to be able to successfully write fiction.

The Fictitious Narrator

Woolf begins *AROO* by creating a fictional narrator who is giving a lecture on the topic of Women and Fiction, describing her thought process, and how she got to the conclusion that women require £500 a year and a room with a lock on the door. While Woolf makes a point to state that the name of the narrator is unimportant—"Call me Mary Beton, Mary Seton, Mary Carmichael or any other name you please—it is not a matter of importance"—the act of fictionalizing herself at the beginning of her work has dual reasoning (*AROO* 5). In one of her letters, Woolf describes the decision to fictionalize herself stating: "I forced myself to keep my own figure fictitious; legendary. If I had said, Look here am I uneducated, because my brothers used all the family funds which is the fact—Well theyd have said; she has an axe to grind; and no one would have taken me seriously" (qtd. in Gubar xxxviii). Woolf understood that her own disadvantages and position, if blatantly stated so early on, would have hindered her argument.

Additionally, while she is fictionalizing, the character herself and the events that occur within the narrative draw from Woolf's personal experiences: being refused access to libraries, her Cambridge lectures, etc.

The use of her own experiences as the narrative framework of *AROO* introduces the constraints of womanhood women writers faced that even Woolf herself endured and provides a sense of credibility as Woolf has extensive knowledge on the subject of women writers' struggles. Her experiences are further expounded upon as Woolf continues her narrative and depicts the narrator having a fictional discussion with herself. One of the first concepts Woolf discusses is what she refers to as "the reprehensible poverty of [her] sex" (*AROO* 21). The narrator sits down with the fictitious Mary Seton after a mediocre dinner and discusses what could have been if "her mother and her mother's mother before her had learnt the great art of making money" (*AROO* 21). While the narrator ruminates that this would have been detrimental to the family dynamic and that Mary Seton would most likely not be alive had this occurred, she stops in her tracks and remembers that historically this would have been impossible.

As she realizes this impossibility, she concludes that to hypothesize about this possibility was futile as women were denied all legal rights to the money they could have earned until very recently during Woolf's own time with the *Married Women's Property Act of 1882*. She supposes that any woman who did make money would conclude that it was pointless to attempt to do so if they could not even keep it for themselves and they are better off leaving the finances to their husband (*AROO* 23). The narrator, through a winding sequence of thought, discovers the upsetting truth that the place women are in is a result of factors outside of their control. She is both angry at the history of the fact and resentful of the women who came before her that appear to have done nothing to combat this issue.

"Judith Shakespeare"

Very shortly after, the narrator imagines what would have happened if a woman had attempted to make a living by writing during this period. Through the narrative of the fictitious sister of Shakespeare, Woolf discusses all the challenges that "Judith Shakespeare" would have faced if she had been born just as gifted as her brother and endeavored to become just as successful. While Shakespeare went off to become renowned, Judith stayed home; she was not formally educated, she was discouraged from any intellectual pursuits and reminded of her role in the household. When Judith runs away from home to become a playwright she encounters many traumatic hurdles, gets pregnant, and commits suicide due to her failure to succeed as an author. Her extensive narrative of the tragedy of Judith Shakespeare, while dramatic, is historically not too far off. Women historically have had to follow a strict set of expectations and every deviation from the norm would be punished either by family or by society.

Woolf continues by explaining that, had Judith Shakespeare, or any woman, been successful in achieving their goal of writing, the writing would have been contorted. She argues that a woman's life was not suited for writing: "all the conditions of her life, all her own instincts, were hostile to the state of mind which is needed to set free whatever is in the brain" (AROO 50). Woolf argues that until women are given the control they need over material items such as their own space, money, and food, their intellectual work will suffer. Women cannot thrive on a mediocre dinner. Until they gain access to these material conditions, women will lack true intellectual freedom. The first step is, as Woolf argues, a room of their own.

Restrictions of the Domestic Sphere

As stated previously, women were often fearful of becoming Authors as a result of the societal expectations that came with being a woman in the nineteenth and twentieth centuries.

The largest expectation was the obligation of women to stay within their private, domestic sphere. Being within the domestic sphere was an incredibly large part of women's sense of self: "Nineteenth-century middle-class women derived their primary social and cultural self-definition from their identification with the private realm" (Corbett 17). Women's whole lives were defined by what they could do to be good mothers, daughters, and wives. There were even conduct books that taught young girls the proper ways to act and the values they should uphold; "women [were] reared for, and conditioned to, lives of privacy, reticence, [and] domesticity" (Gilbert and Gubar 47, 52). The very essence of womanhood in the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries was defined by the patriarchal control of women.

Just as Woolf describes in *AROO* that the world was not suited for women to write because it generated anger that would fester and ruin women's writing, Charlotte Perkins Gilman's poem "In Duty Bound" identifies just how taxing the domestic life was for women:

In duty bound, a life hemmed in,

Whichever way the spirit turns to look;

No chance of breaking out, except by sin,

Not even room to shirk--

Simply to live, and work.

An obligation preimposed, unsought,

Yet binding with the force of natural law;

The pressure of antagonistic thought;

Aching within, each hour,

A sense of wasting power.

A house with roof so darkly low

The heavy rafters shut the sunlight out;

One cannot stand erect without a blow;

Until the soul inside

Cries for a grave-more wide.

Gilman's poem illustrates the exhaustion that resulted from the high expectations and thankless work women did in the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries. Her poem, rife with imagery of confinement and feelings of being without autonomy, proves that even prolific female writers such as Charlotte Perkins Gilman struggled with a need for control over themselves and their environment in order to successfully become an Author.

Anger in Women Writers

As a result of the lack of suitable conditions for intellectual freedom, works written by women have been distorted by their dissatisfaction and anger towards their situation. Woolf explains that "Had [she] survived [her situation], whatever she had written would have been twisted and deformed, issuing from a strained and morbid imagination" (AROO 49). In AROO, Woolf introduces a variety of women authors whose works have been overshadowed by their anger towards the challenges they faced. This anger "[spread] like a stain throughout the style and structure of much literature by women before the twentieth century" (Gilbert and Gubar 51). Through the setting of her narrator browsing her bookshelf, Woolf provides examples of many female writers in history who, despite their privileged backgrounds, still faced a variety of obstacles and challenges in their efforts to become Authors.

One such writer, Lady Winchelsea, wrote in the eighteenth century, was both a noble and childless, but as Woolf states, "one has only to open her poetry to find her bursting out in indignation against the position of women" (*AROO* 57). Woolf provides examples of the many

works Lady Winchelsea wrote that had promise but were twisted by her anger. While Lady Winchelsea, privileged and childless, had access to money and the privacy of her own room, she was still a product of the patriarchal society that feared her literary accomplishments.

The next author Woolf's narrator explores is the Duchess Margaret of Newcastle. The Duchess was similarly married and childless and Woolf states she was also "disfigured and deformed by the same causes" (AROO 60-61). In fact, women like the Duchess, often referred to as "Mad Madge," "became a bogey to frighten clever girls with" (Gilbert and Gubar 63). This idea of the monstrous woman writer added further fear to the anxiety of Authorship women faced and diminished the quality of work women produced. Both Lady Winchelsea and the Duchess held a passion and potential for authorship, and yet their circumstances made their works lesser than the men of their time.

An example of a woman Woolf examines who is now a well-known author is Charlotte Brontë and her best-known novel *Jane Eyre*. Woolf spends a good portion of this section of *AROO* critiquing one specific scene in Brontë's novel—Jane Eyre on the roof. While searching for a moment of privacy within Thornfield Hall, Jane climbs to the roof and laments the suffering of women taught to be calm and content with their lot in life stating: "it is thoughtless to condemn them, or laugh at them, if they seek to do more or learn more than custom has pronounced necessary for their sex" (Bronte 167). However, her change from addressing her current situation to that of women in general and her abrupt statement that she hears another character approaching is "an awkward break" (*AROO* 68). Woolf examines the digression of Brontë's main character to object to the state of women, claiming, "she [wrote] of herself where she should write of her characters" (*AROO* 69). Even Brontë, whom Woolf argues had more literary genius than Jane Austen, was led astray by odd jerks of indignation and rage that

hindered her ability to write well (AROO 69). This addition of Charlotte Brontë set in comparison to lesser-known women shows that even those women whose Authorship is often praised by modern critics were held back by their material conditions and society's resistance to their intellectual freedom.

Anonymity

Woolf follows this claim of twisted writing with the argument that the women who survived this disfigurement would have written anonymously, much like Woolf herself in the early stages of her career. She states that had women survived the struggles of their circumstances their works would have been ruined by their anger and, "undoubtedly...[their] work would have gone unsigned. That refuge [they] would have sought certainly" (AROO 49-50). Women writers would have taken refuge in the little control they had over their writing, a modicum of power they had to hold onto their works and stay safe from the repercussions of writing freely. As Corbett states in "Feminine Authorship and Spiritual Authority in Victorian Women Writers' Autobiographies," "for the woman writer to enter the public world, even through the impersonal medium of print, is to incur the risk of social or moral death...the loss of the feminine self.... For some women writers, opening that window onto the private is so fraught with danger that only...a masculine pseudonym, can provide them with the curtain necessary to shield them from public view" (Corbett 18). Women who survived would choose to veil themselves behind the protection of a man's name rather than their own in order to overcome the anxiety of Authorship that came with being a woman writer.

This "refuge" that Woolf claims women would seek is not just a hypothetical conclusion created from a review of women's history—or the lack of it. Woolf saw that many women would choose to write anonymously rather than not at all, but that the consequences of this action went

beyond the loss of Authorship for women and impacted the history of women. This line of thinking can be seen in a section from *Women & Fiction*: "often nothing tangible remains of a woman's day...Her life has an anonymous character" (199). She asserts that while women are often incredibly productive—completing and producing throughout their days, even setting aside the creative output of Authorship—they rarely receive credit for what they do produce and so it fades into obscurity. Woolf concludes that the lack of history of women results in an "anonymous character" which can be reflected in the use of pseudonyms or even the lack of claiming authorship at all throughout history. When faced with the challenges and restrictions of womanhood, these women chose to discard the title of Author altogether.

And yet, all this is a hypothesis by Woolf; during her time there was little to no information on the state of women. Social history—which includes women's history—did not emerge until the early twentieth century, around the time Woolf was writing *AROO*. When Woolf attempts to research the history of women, she finds a deficit in the history books: "she is all but absent from history" (*AROO* 43). She concludes that while women are ever-present secondary characters in the shadows of men, and are often written about, very little is known about their history before the eighteenth century. While there was a boom in women-written literature in the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries, the exact cause of why women did not write before that is—according to Woolf—unknown. Women have left only a minuscule trace of themselves in history. Woolf goes on to explain that it is useless to ask why women did not write when there is no knowledge of how they were educated, if they had rooms to themselves, if they had children, or what their daily routines were (*AROO* 45). It is only definitively known that they had no money.

Many women authors saw the treatment of those who attempted to breach the confines of the private sphere and enter into the public and decided to choose a safer route at the expense of their authorship and ability to claim the title of Author. The decision to write anonymously was often a result of societal pressure. The spiritual concept of chastity—a characteristic that emphasized a woman's perceived purity through what society deemed correct conduct, restraint, and integrity—often held significant weight and would scare women off from entering into the public sphere and publishing their works (Fernald 170, Price 266, Goldberg 17). The suggestion of entering into the public sphere, the idea of female publicity, was actively shamed and discouraged not just by men but by other women too (Corbett 18).

Women often chose not to attempt publishing, would publish works with no name, or go even further and attempt to "ineffectively veil themselves by using the name of a man" (*AROO* 50). While there were some benefits of using a male pseudonym—a women writer could supersede the restrictions of her womanhood that her "foremothers" were constrained by—women who chose to do so forfeited their Authorship (Gilbert and Gubar 65). It was often common practice for women to publish their works using a pseudonym, utilizing "public masks to hide her private dreams" (Gilbert and Gubar 81). Many well-known classic Authors, when faced with the possibility of judgment would publish anonymously or use a male pseudonym. Even Mary Shelley, the now-famous author of *Frankenstein*, originally published her works anonymously and many of her works are still being canonized and removed from the category of anonymous authorship today (Crook). Authors like the Brontë sisters who kept their initials but used names such as Currer Bell (Charlotte Brontë), Ellis Bell (Emily Brontë), and Acton Bell (Anne Brontë) are now known by their given names, but many other female writers' names are lost to history as a result of anonymous publishing and the use of pseudonyms.

One such example is Mary Ann Evans, a well-known author today, and yet many only know her by her pen name, George Eliot. There have been so many women whose names have been lost to history as a result of pressure to succumb to societal expectations and yet even more women, when faced with the possibility of being judged would choose to not be authors at all. Essentially, the fear of judgment creates "No space [...] for the female. She can either allow herself to be devoured or she can retreat into isolation" (Gilbert and Gubar 208). Their only options were to become the unnatural and monstrous woman or fade into the unknown.

Lost Authors

Women when faced with the consequences of writing or publishing publicly and surrounded by negativity toward women's intellectualism often did not seek out or endeavor to write at all or did not write work considered by their contemporaries as "literature." Not only would women often avoid intellectualism out of fear of social judgment but, as Woolf repeatedly states, women would not have been offered the opportunity to be educated enough to become good writers. This would often result in, as Woolf claims, multiple generations of lost writers, women who had no opportunity or means to write but like "Judith Shakespeare," they had an intellectual mind—one that often caused them trouble. Women whose very psyche went against the expectations and norms of society and were punished for daring to even appear different or whose genius was overshadowed by those given more opportunity than they were often failed to become Authors. In AROO Woolf claims, that when someone reads of a witch, a woman possessed, a wise woman, or a famous man who had a mother, then "we are on the track of a lost novelist," a woman who could have gone "crazed with the torture that her gift" gave her (AROO 48-49). Each of Woolf's examples identifies a woman overtaken by the restrictions of her culture, a culture that punishes women for daring to act outside of the status quo. Woolf herself,

who published anonymously early on in her career, felt she was outside her culture's expectations—her same-sex attractions and relationship, and not having children—which contributed to the mental illness she suffered from. Eventually, she committed suicide as a result of it. The cultural restrictions of a patriarchal world punished even Virginia Woolf for her deviations from the traditional expectations of the domestic sphere. This challenge severely limited women's ability to write for a very long time. As Woolf so succinctly puts it: "It was a woman Edward Fitzgerald, I think, suggested who made the ballads and the folk-songs, crooning them to her children, beguiling her spinning with them, or the length of the winter's night" (AROO 49). And yet even the women who were not persecuted but were deprived of an education showed a possibility for Authorship.

Patriarchal "Partnership"

The struggle of women to write unfortunately goes beyond not being given educational opportunities, being isolated from the public, and the demanding social expectations of the domestic sphere. As Woolf has proven, if women were able to overcome all these hurdles and write, they may still be defeated by their anger toward their situation or by the social fear of being in the public eye. However, if a woman were to succeed in maintaining her Authorial genius and write something truly revolutionary, it is likely that too would be taken from her. Woolf uses another fictitious narrative to illustrate this concept.

She imagines a tribe of women in Central Asia who are discovered to write plays better than *King Lear* and hypothesizes that if this were to occur men would first be incredulous, then angry, and then they would either destroy the works or "write off the Anne or the Jane on the title page an emphatic George or John" (*Women and Fiction* 181). On the pedestal of the

patriarchy, men were unwilling to allow women to supersede them in the literary field and gain the opportunity to decrease men's power over them. As Gubar and Gilbert state while discussing the themes of male and female sexuality in the literary canon, "If male sexuality is integrally associated with the assertive presence of literary power, female sexuality is associated with the absence of such power" (8). Women's creative impulses were expected to be employed in other areas, such as childbirth.

Yet, much like Woolf, there were some Authors who succeeded in overcoming the patriarchal hold men like their fathers often had on them. One such Author, Mary Shelley, reflects the intellectual background of Virginia Woolf—having endured a similar educational upbringing and been surrounded by a similar intellectual community. Both of Shelley's parents were large figures within literary and intellectual communities, and after her mother died, Shelley's house was often visited by intellectual figures. Much like Woolf, Shelley was not provided a formal education but was still able to surround herself with a community that upheld intellectualism and married a man—Percy Shelley—who as a literary man himself was open and willing to allow his wife to engage in her literary aspirations as long as she did not attempt anything he deemed significant to literature, like poetry. Mary Shelley's most popular work, *Frankenstein*, perfectly illustrates this point—whether purposefully or coincidentally—by illustrating a man's ill-fated attempt to control the greatest creative power, and the chaos and destruction that followed.

While Woolf and Shelley are examples of women who succeeded in becoming Authors despite a lack of formal education and the social expectations of their times, it must be noted that these women were privileged. As stated previously, most women were constantly held back from the ability to gain any type of freedom—intellectual or financial—that would allow them to

become successful Authors and remove themselves from patriarchal control. As Woolf so succinctly argues, if women *were* to successfully create literary works, men would overtake them by either claiming them as their own or using their power to set up a society that harshly judged women's attempts to enter the public through creative means. Woolf provides many examples of women whose works have been stolen. She states that the Duchess Margaret Cavendish of Newcastle, while her writing was rife with anger, showed signs of a poet. Woolf makes the bold claim that "Milton is said [to have] owed a line to her" (*Women & Fiction* 95). Even a man as important within the contemporary literary canon as Milton is not innocent of co-opting an Author's works to benefit his own.

Not only are women often the direct producers of works that are then taken and portrayed as men's own, but even their presence, often taken for granted, was said to have aided in invigorating a man's creative energy. Woolf argued that women provided a perspective that men found to "increase creative power" just by being in the presence of a woman's separate world; she claimed, "the sight of her creating in a different medium would so fertilise his own creative his mind" that he would at once be "invigorated" (Woolf 85). Many men believed it was even a woman's domestic duty to do so. As Corbett claims women were not expected to produce works of literature themselves or become Authors but to "'[keep] alive for men certain ideas and ideals'...women's role in literary production then should be to protect and transmit culture, virtue and private values" (25). Yet, strangely enough, men who benefited from this creative harmony were often the first ones to claim women had no place in the literary field; they did not believe women should or even could produce creative works to the same level as their own, let alone better than. As philosopher and literature critic George Henry Lewes—the married man "George Eliot" had an affair with—stated, "a perfect woman is one who can write but

won't...domestic woman's influence as inspiring others to create perfect circles of their own...abstaining from the wider field of authorship" (Corbett 24). Even renowned literary critics upheld small-minded, patriarchal perspectives of the proper ways women should engage in literature. Corbett goes even further in her explanation of the patriarchal "partnership" men conceived with women stating that "Male artistry requires female subordination; the ideal woman is confined to the home" (25). This not only highlights the superiority of men in the patriarchal literary field over women's creativity but also reflects the specific expectations of women to be confined to the domestic sphere.

Patriarchal Control

Yet, through *AROO*, Woolf constructs a narrative in which women are capable of becoming Authors. Woolf imagines that to resolve the aforementioned struggles of authorship women have faced, women must have intellectual, educational, and spatial freedom; they must have autonomy. Gilbert and Gubar provide insight into the importance of intellectual and educational freedom and its monumental impact on women's lives; they quote Virginia Woolf herself on the importance of intellectual and educational freedom in her life. Woolf admits that "had Sir Leslie Stephen lived into his nineties... 'His life would have entirely ended mine. What would have happened? No writing, no books: –inconceivable.'" (Gilbert and Gubar 192). While her father had provided her access to his library, as previously stated, his death was truly the catalyst for Woolf's intellectual and educational journey. As she so boldly claims, Woolf's ability to have intellectual and educational freedom was a direct result of her father's death; the patriarchal hold of society lessened without a direct familial conduit to control her.

Meanwhile, this freedom from a societal and literary patriarchy in Woolf's life is directly juxtaposed by Gilbert and Gubar's discussion of Charlotte Brontë. While describing the struggles

women underwent, they illustrate the restrictions authors such as Charlotte Brontë—today a very successful and canonized Author—faced from even their own fathers. As Woolf identifies in *AROO*, fathers were simultaneously benevolent caretakers who held their daughters on a pedestal and upholders of the maddening, controlling patriarchy that sent women like "Judith Shakespeare" to their graves. Charlotte Brontë herself stated, "When I'm teaching or sewing, I would rather be reading or writing...' I try to deny myself; [but] my father's approbation amply reward[s] me for the privation."" (Gilbert and Gubar 64). While her father did not "sling her about the room and lock her up" as Judith Shakespeare's father might have done for daring to want to read and write, his praise for Brontë's restraint was another tool of control used by the patriarchy to keep Author's from fully forming in their time (*AROO* 42). Many women, like Charlotte Brontë, were not given encouragement by the male figures in their lives or the financial ability to follow their literary aspirations.

Woolf's Solutions: The Room and The Lock

Not only do women need money, specifically £500 a year according to Woolf in *AROO*, but they also need a room to themselves. This thesis evolves by the end of *AROO* to also include a lock on the door of the room. Woolf's main argument, that in order to write fiction women need £500 a year and a room with a lock on the door is a very bold claim for her time. Claiming that women deserve financial and physical independence was a revolutionary demand by Woolf.

The Room

Woolf's demand for a room itself was little more than a continuation of a thought process earlier in *AROO* when Woolf highlights the interrupted lives of women (*AROO* 56). Woolf argues—and uses quotes from other female authors—to demonstrate that women led incredibly

interrupted lives without more than an hour to themselves (AROO 56). They were caught in the web of the domestic sphere always asked to mend this sock, or tend the children, or mind the dinner (AROO 40). As many contemporary critics of Woolf have pointed out, women's need for privacy goes beyond the mental solitude women often seek. In order for women to have true privacy—true control over themselves, their environment, and their authorial status—they need a physical space to retreat to alongside their mental solitude. Historically, the only retreat women have had was to the common sitting room (or drawing room) where people entered and exited routinely. Woolf herself exclaimed, "[h]ow could one write at all in the common sitting rooms, with people going in & out?" (Women & Fiction 86). As Woolf highlights in AROO, Jane Austen spent most of her time in the drawing room while she composed her novels; Woolf argues that novels were the only literary composition suited for the interrupted lives of women because of their skill of observation of others. Even Woolf's writing of the manuscript of AROO "shows the interrupted lives women lead" (Rosenbaum xxiv); the manuscript was written across looseleaf pages, on the backs of other manuscripts as well as in her diary (Rosenbaum xxii-xxxiy). In her text, AROO, Woolf repeatedly argues for women "to have five hundred a year and a room with a lock on the door," repeatedly putting an emphasis on the importance of women to have a space of their own (103). The idea of the room, however, goes beyond the concept of a place for women to retreat so that they may write; the room represents the ability of women to separate themselves from the gendered space of the domestic and public spheres and create the opportunity for authorship that they have control over.

The room itself holds both physical and symbolic meaning—it contains a variety of definitions, each capable of application to Woolf's "room." In "The Walls that Emancipate:

Disambiguation of the "Room" in *A Room of One's Own*" Sheheryar Sheikh defines a room as "a

physical [space] that enables privacy"—a concept women did not often have access to outside their mental solitude—as well as "[c]apacity to accommodate a person [...] or allow a particular action," and the "[o]pportunity or scope [to do something]" (20). As Sheikh proves, the room not only enabled privacy but provided women with the opportunity and accommodation to do what they willed. If women were to receive, as Woolf requests, a room of their own then they would be provided the opportunity of spatial privacy beyond their mental solitude—for if privacy is to actually exist for women, they require a physical space to retreat to. Sheikh goes further in their definition of a room to illustrate exactly what Woolf means when she uses the term a room of their own, defining it "as a room or place to oneself, as a symbol of independence, privacy, autonomy, etc." (20). The room is not just a physical space but a symbol of women's ability to control their authorial identity through the use of a physical blockade from the patriarchal inhibitors of the literary field.

Additionally, Woolf's use of the term "room" rather than "study" in her requirements is a purposeful avoidance of the masculine term "study"—often thought of as a space for a man to retreat to within his home where the women of the house were often forbidden or discouraged from entering. The masculine "study" is perfectly portrayed by Austen in *Pride and Prejudice* with the protagonist's father continuously retreating to his library to avoid his harried and nerveaddled wife, a purposeful critique by Austen of his behavior and failure to fulfill his paternal obligations. As Gan illustrates in "Solitude and Community: Virginia Woolf, Spatial Privacy and *A Room of One's Own*," the "room" was an androgynous combination of the feminine drawing room—the only physical place upper-class women often had access to—and the masculine study. Woolf avoids the use of study to avoid possible upset from the patriarchal population by implying that women aimed to steal something that may have seemed sacred to them; much like

Wollstonecraft in *Vindication of the Right of Women*, Woolf concedes some of her opinions and tailors it to the target demographic, women. The "room" is instead an androgynous neutral demand from Woolf, a mirror of the androgynous Author.

The room becomes not only a symbol of independence and autonomy, providing women with the opportunity to become writers but it also creates the opportunity for women to create a safe place in which they have the space to take hold of their authorial identity and be comforted with the knowledge that it is safe within that room. As Woolf desired and portrayed in *Night and Day*, in 1919, the room creates a space, a community for women to have intellectual independence and freedom without fear of judgment. All this culminates in the concept of a room that allows women to create a safe space to distance themselves from the patriarchal control of both academic and domestic spheres—if they choose.

The Lock

The idea of choice—of control—is represented by Woolf in the addition of the lock to her argument at the end of *AROO*. When Woolf first introduces her "prosaic conclusion" that women need £500 a year and a room of their own, the lock was not yet included in her thesis. In fact, it is not until page 103 of the 112-page book that Woolf includes the lock in her central claim. However, the imagery of the lock, and its symbolism of confinement—ever-present in women's lives and literature—is present throughout *AROO*. It evolves from the idea of women being locked in or locked out by the patriarchy to women being the ones who hold control over the lock. The lock on the door of the room represents "the power to think for oneself [when given] the power to contemplate" (*AROO* 105). Throughout *AROO* Woolf uses depicts women being locked in, locked out, or confined from intellectual property and freedom.

Within AROO, Woolf uses consistent imagery to illustrate women being both "locked out" of intellectualism and being 'locked in' to their private, domestic sphere assigned by society—a means of exclusion and control over women. The imagery of confinement within AROO begins with Woolf's setup of her narrative framework. She describes the narrator exploring the grounds of "Oxbridge," the fictionalized conflation of Oxford and Cambridge, and being denied entry to certain buildings, noting not only that "ladies were only admitted to the library if accompanied by a Fellow of the College or furnished with a letter of introduction," but also that "[she] had no wish to enter had [she] the right" (AROO 8). Woolf's comment that she did not even want to enter the library reflects the tradition of women being repeatedly excluded and rejected to the point of acceptance of their situation—of a grasp at control where they decide to act as if choosing to not want "to enter," to not want an education was just a way to feel as if they had autonomy in a strict patriarchal society. As she is leaving Woolf illustrates in her manuscript, "gate after gate seemed to close <lock> gently <but> to behind me...fitting many keys into vast locks & leaving securing <making> that vast huge treasure house safe" (Women & Fiction 18). Woolf's use of gates being closed, and keys turning in locks making the vast treasure house of the library "safe" from her represents the physical exclusion of women from the literary world. She even ruminates on the idea of being locked out stating "I thought how unpleasant it is to be locked out; and I thought how it is worse perhaps to be locked in; and, thinking of the safety and prosperity of one sex and the poverty and insecurity of the other and of the effect of tradition and the lack of tradition upon the mind of the writer" (AROO 24). She explains that being simultaneously locked in and locked out creates a significant boundary between one sex and another and emphasizes the restrictions women have faced in their efforts to become Authors.

Yet another instance of Woolf using imagery of confinement in *AROO* is in her narrative of "Judith Shakespeare" and her research on "Women" in which on multiple occasions she describes the unfortunate occurrence of fathers and husbands to "lock up" their women if they were to attempt to go against the domestic expectations of their sex (26-30, 46-48). Additionally, within her manuscript, there are numerous instances of Woolf using imagery of the lock and either omitting or rephrasing later in the revised *AROO*. For instance, when explaining the financial struggles of women she declares "iron bars should lie between us...& poverty"; and once again when elaborating on the domestic expectations of women she exclaims "to begin with always to be doing work one did not wish to do, that was bad enough & then to then the to do it in chains, like a slave" (*Women & Fiction 3*, 58). The imagery of the lock is so ingrained within the women, within Woolf herself, that when closing out her argument within *AROO* she uses imagery of the lock to explain the ability of any woman to become an Author—had she £500 a year and a room with a lock on the door.

In her manuscript she claims that poets "are continuing presences; they are in us you and they are in me [...], in spite of the bishop who, is impr, in prison; she is locked up on all of us who are here tonight, & in many others" (*Women & Fiction* 172). While this unrestricted thought process of Woolf's produced the idea of the poet being locked inside, in a prison guarded by the bishop of the library from the beginning of *AROO*, her revised conclusion emphasizes the idea of women having the ability to be poets rather than poets being locked within them. The imagery of a lock evolved to represent women's control over themselves and their own lives rather than the patriarchal control the imagery represented previously throughout *AROO*. Yet another example of this is within Woolf's manuscript in which she provides a poetic historical retelling of Florence Nightingale receiving the torch to pave a path for women writers. She describes: "a

single shell crossed the seas...sought out a peaceful manor house...and crashed through the drawing room door...The key was but a mass of molten and disfigured metal. Out stepped a figure - a frail and solitary woman. In one hand she bore a roll of lint; in the other a lamp. Her name was Florence Nightingale. The reign of women's servitude was over. Doors were flung wide...Doors there still are <&doors that are locked>" (Women & Fiction 183-84).

Woolf is not the only Author to utilize imagery of confinement, of the lock. As Gilbert and Gubar argue, "anxieties about space [...] dominate the literature of both nineteenth women and their twentieth-century descendants," with "imagery of enclosure [reflecting] the woman writer's own discomfort, her sense of powerlessness, her fear" (83-84). The imagery of confinement, enclosure, being locked in, locked out, etc. is prevalent throughout women's literature, only just beginning to be analyzed and emphasized by Woolf in *AROO*. There are many Authors whose works reflect this anxiety of space that Gilbert and Gubar identify.

One example is Charlotte Brontë's *Jane Eyre*, from which Gilbert and Gubar take the title for their book, *The Madwoman in the Attic*. Bronte's *Jane Eyre* is rife with imagery of confinement. One of the first instances of confinement is when Jane Eyre is locked in the "red room" as a child after fighting back against her treatment, a representation of the confinement women are faced with when they attempt to go against the expected duties of their spheres. Yet another instance is the entrapment of Edward Rochester's first wife within the attic of Thornfield Hall. As Rochester claims, Bertha has been locked in the attic because of her struggles with mental health—a decision that very clearly did not improve her condition. Bronte illustrates multiple women throughout her novel who have been locked away or locked up for going against the expectations of their sex; the lock is used to control them just as the imagery of confinement represents the patriarchal control women faced in their efforts to become Authors.

A more metaphorical example of confinement, isolation, and independence is present in Kate Chopin's *The Awakening*. Chopin's novel aptly describes the limitations of women in the 1800s as a result of the expectations of the domestic sphere that ruled their livelihoods. Through Edna, the protagonist, Chopin presents the evolution of a woman finding independence and freedom despite the constraints of her sex. Within this evolution, Chopin provides spatial imagery of isolation or being locked in. During her journey of self-discovery, Edna locks herself inside a small painting studio within her home, inspired by the culturally unaccepted Mademoiselle Reisz who represents the woman who enters into the public eye despite public objections and faces the consequences of the decision. Despite Edna's attempts, however, she is unsuccessful in replicating the life of Mademoiselle Reisz. Instead, she succumbs to the fate of many female protagonists whose identity undergoes significant challenges within their stories. She commits suicide—much like "Judith Shakespeare."

Charlotte Perkins Gilman is yet another Author whose work is permeated with imagery of confinement and enclosure. As mentioned previously, Gilman's "In Duty Bound," one of her earlier poems, illustrates the constrictions of the domestic sphere during her time utilizing imagery of enclosure throughout. She describes "a life hemmed in," with "no chance of breaking out," a life of "binding" (Gilman, lines 1, 3, 7). Gilman's use of lock imagery within one of her first works as a published author highlights the struggles Gilman experienced in her efforts to move from author to Author.

Unfortunately, it can be seen in her later work that the symbolism of confinement haunted Gilman throughout her literary career. Her most popular work, "The Yellow Wallpaper," embodies the imagery of the lock and encapsulates the "anxieties of space" and the "woman writer[s'] sense of powerlessness" Gilbert and Gubar discuss in *Madwoman in the Attic*.

Within Gilman's short story, the narrator, Jane, represents a direct mirror of the author herself, much like in *AROO*. The narrator has been prescribed the rest cure and confined to an attic room with barred windows and rings for chains upon the walls (648). Her husband and doctor take "all care from [her]," denoting the patriarchal control over women (648). The narrator is an author herself, prevented from writing during her treatment; the narrative presents her writing the story as it develops. The story chronicles her slow descent into madness as a result of her confinement. Much like "Judith Shakespeare" and the other women writers Woolf historicizes, the Narrator begins to lose her sanity and go mad as a result of the conditions of her situation. Prevented from having independence, restricted from utilizing her intellectual capabilities, and confined to a single room with no freedom, the Narrator begins to hallucinate images within the wallpaper of the room. She imagines the floral patterns to be bars and the rips in the paper to be the attempts of an unknown woman locked behind the bars to escape. The bars and the woman locked behind the wallpaper a metaphor for both the narrator's authorial identity and independence being restricted as well as Gilman herself.

Even Gilbert and Gubar used terms that brought about the image of confinement and control when discussing the struggles of nineteenth-century women writers in *The Madwoman in the Attic: The Woman Writer and the Nineteenth-Century Literary Imagination*. They use a variety of analogies to compare the power system between men and women: master and slave, colonizer and colonized, superior and subordinate caste, unyielding and docile, dominant and submissive (Gilbert and Gubar). Each of these juxtapositions is indicative of a patriarchal system of control that invites images of captivity, of being locked in. Even the name itself, as previously stated, is an allusion to enclosure or confinement; a woman deemed mad locked away in the attic—an allusion to Brontë's *Jane Eyre*.

Much like Woolf's "lock on the door," imagery of the lock represents more than just the physical lock itself. Women's need to lock others out and lock themselves in rather than being locked out or locked in without control is represented by Woolf's lock on the door—it matters who keeps the key. The lock represents "the power to think for oneself" when given the financial "power to contemplate" (Woolf 89). the importance of the concept of space itself is apparent in the constant use of special imagery throughout *AROO* and the ways in which Woolf transitions from "the Lock"—a representation of confinement and control—being a means of control over women to a symbol of women gaining power over themselves and gaining the ability to lock others out. It is an evolution from being controlled to the ability to control; it is autonomy.

Conclusion

As has been stated, Woolf's solutions to the struggle of women writers in the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries center around access to a room with a lock on the door that women can control. Specifically, as Woolf concludes: £500 a year and a room with a lock on the door, the £500 standing for the power to contemplate and the lock representing the power to think for oneself. This paper argued: that while Woolf famously called for women writers to have "a room of their own," my analysis of Woolf's history, *A Room of One's Own*, and other contemporary works demonstrates the necessity of women to have control over their own work, environment and authorial identity symbolized for Woolf by a lock on the door of the room. This thesis defined the Capital "A" Author and its impact on the anxiety of Authorship women faced, explored how Woolf looked at the history of women's struggles through her fictional narratives, identified the impact of these struggles on women's authorship often resulting in anger and anonymous writings, and highlighted the importance of "The Room" and "The Lock" to both Woolf's thesis and my own.

The implications of Woolf's AROO are relevant today because even though there has been major progress in the availability of formal education and financial independence that Woolf identifies as a solution to women's struggles to become Authors, many women still struggle to have a space to themselves, free from the expectations of the domestic sphere. This is incredibly evident in the struggles of working women during COVID, who were expected to fulfill their domestic responsibilities while simultaneously being in professional fields. As Boston University's Center for Work and Family highlights, "[c]ompared to fathers, mothers [were] 2x more likely to be responsible for homeschooling" and "3x more likely to take on the majority of housework and caregiving." This led to women "report[ing] consistent feelings of burnout and exhaustion, lower productivity, and a negative impact of working remotely on their career progression" (Center for Work and Family). Parallelling Woolf's thesis on the interrupted lives of women, Jennifer Senior states in "Camp Is Canceled. Three More Months of Family Time. Help," [women] need a stretch of continuous, unmolested time to do good work. Instead, [their] day is a torrent of interruptions, endlessly divided and subdivided, a Zeno's paradox of infinite tasks". This primary source account reflects the continuing struggles of women to have a room of their own free from the restrictions of the domestic sphere.

Additionally, while there is no longer a tradition of aggressive discouragement towards women becoming Author's today, the genres women often turn to and dominate in the literary field are severely looked down upon, specifically romance novels. The reputation of the romance genre is succinctly described by British popular scholar Joanne Hollows who states that "romantic fiction is [seen as] 'formulaic,' 'trivial' and 'escapist' [...] each of these charges dating back to at least the middle of the nineteenth century, each of them part of a profoundly gendered anxiety over mass culture more generally" (qtd in Frantz and Selinger 2-3). Much like

the nineteenth-century perceptions of immoral women becoming popular writers and entering the public sphere Woolf emphasized in *AROO*, the perception of the immorality of women's literature has found a new target, romance novels. Maya Rodale, in *Dangerous Books for Girls:*The Bad Reputation of Romance Novels, when listing the variety of reasons women's romance novels are looked down upon or thought of as "dangerous books" states that it may be "because women become the author-ity"; she argues "that women read[ing] and writ[ing] these novels has [led] to the notion of romances being 'women's work' and has been devalued accordingly the same way as teachers, nurses and other 'typically female' dominated industries" (27-28). Rodale goes even further to highlight the reputation of romance novels and cites a survey she conducted to non-romance readers on their perceptions of romance literature. Here are just a few of the numerous negative comments she received: "fluff reading, not for very bright individuals"; "formulaic and generally mediocre writing"; "unrealistic. Lesser quality writing and vocabulary"; stuck in a rut"; "sorority girls or bored housewives" (32).

It is abundantly clear, that while women now have the ability to become Authors, and are able to gain financial and educational freedom, they are still fighting negative perceptions of their creative outputs. The struggle of women to work uninterrupted during the pandemic and the consistent negative connotations of romance novels emphasizes the need for further advancement and progress in the modern perception of women and fiction.

Works Cited

- Batchelor, Jennie. "Influence, Intertextuality and Agency: Eighteenth-Century Women Writers and the Politics of Remembering." *Women's Writing*, vol. 20, no. 1, Feb. 2013, pp. 1–12, https://doi.org/10.1080/09699082.2013.754253.
- Brontë, Charlotte. *Jane Eyre*. The Floating Press, 2008. *EBSCOhost*, search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip&db=e000xna&AN=314168 &site=ehost-live&scope=site.
- Center for Work and Family. "COVID-19 Impact on Women in the Workplace." *Boston College*. https://www.bc.edu/content/dam/files/centers/cwf/research/Publication%20Images/COVID%20stand-alone%2012-7-20.pdf
- Chopin, Kate, and University of Virginia. *The Awakening*. Generic NL Freebook Publisher, 1997. *EBSCOhost*, research.ebsco.com/linkprocessor/plink?id=e1736207-f3ac-3f41-a54c-8d14c503510e
- Corbett, Mary Jean. "Feminine Authorship and Spiritual Authority in Victorian Women Writers' Autobiographies." *Women's Studies*, vol. 18, no. 1, Oct. 1990, pp. 13-29. EBSCOhost, https://libproxy.eku.edu/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip&db=asn&AN=5808785&site=ehost-live&scope=site.
- Crook, Nora. "But How Do We Know That It Is by Mary Shelley?" *Mary Shelley and Europe: Essays in Honour of Jean de Palacio*, edited by Antonella Braida, NED-New edition, vol.

 55, Modern Humanities Research Association, 2020, pp. 33–47. *JSTOR*,

 https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctv1wsgr9h.9. Accessed 16 Apr. 2024.
- Fernald, Anne E. "A Feminist Public Sphere? Virginia Woolf's Revisions of the Eighteenth Century." *Feminist Studies*, vol. 31, no. 1, Spring 2005, pp. 158–82. *EBSCOhost*,

- https://libproxy.eku.edu/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true& AuthType=ip&db=asn&AN=16998244&site=ehost-live&scope=site.
- Frantz, Sarah S.G., and Eric Murphy Selinger. Introduction. *New Approaches to Popular Romance Fiction: Critical Essays*. McFarland & Company, 2012.
- Gan, Wendy. "Solitude and Community: Virginia Woolf, Spatial Privacy and *A Room of One's Own*." *Literature & History*, vol. 18, no. 1, Spring 2009, pp. 68–80. *EBSCOhost*, https://libproxy.eku.edu/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true& AuthType=ip&db=asn&AN=41786165&site=ehost-live&scope=site.
- Gilbert, Sandra M., and Susan Gubar. *The Madwoman in the Attic: The Woman Writer and the Nineteenth-Century Literary Imagination*. Yale University Press, 2020. JSTOR, https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctvxkn74x.
- Gilman, Charlotte Perkins. "The Yellow Wallpaper." 1892.

 https://www.nlm.nih.gov/exhibition/theliteratureofprescription/exhibitionAssets/digitalD

 ocs/The-Yellow-Wall-Paper.pdf
- ---. "In Duty Bound." *CharlottePerkinsGilman.com*, 2008,

 https://www.charlotteperkinsgilman.com/2008/04/in-duty-bound-charlotte-perkinsgilman.html
- Gubar, Susan. Introduction. *A Room of One's Own*, Virginia Woolf, Harcourt Inc, 2005, pp. xxv-lxi.
- Hirst, Sam. "What's in a Name? Erasing Women Writers in the Name of Uplifting Them."

 History Today, vol. 70, no. 11, Nov. 2020, pp. 19–22. EBSCOhost,

 https://libproxy.eku.edu/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&

 AuthType=ip&db=asn&AN=146566761&site=ehost-live&scope=site.

- Hurst, Isobel. "Classical Daughters: Elizabeth Barrett Browning and Margaret Fuller." *Women's Studies*, vol. 40, no. 4, June 2011, pp. 448–68. *EBSCOhost*, https://doi-org.libproxy.eku.edu/10.1080/00497878.2011.561746.
- Karcher, Carolyn L. "Reconceiving Nineteenth-Century American Literature: The Challenge of Women Writers." *American Literature*, vol. 66, no. 4, Dec. 1994, p. 781. *EBSCOhost*, https://libproxy.eku.edu/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true& AuthType=ip&db=asn&AN=9412271618&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Kaufman, Mark David. "True Lies: Virginia Woolf, Espionage, and Feminist Agency."
 Twentieth Century Literature (Duke University Press), vol. 64, no. 3, Sept. 2018, pp. 317–46. EBSCOhost, file:///C:/Users/Lauren/OneDrive%20%20Eastern%20Kentucky%20University/HONThesis/KaufmanMark_TrueLiesVirginia
 Woolf.pdf
- Leighton, Mary Elizabeth, and Lisa Surridge. "Picking Up Threads: Women and Labour in the Nineteenth Century." *Women's Writing*, vol. 27, no. 4, Nov. 2020, pp. 399–403.

 EBSCOhost, file:///C:/Users/Lauren/OneDrive%20%20Eastern%20Kentucky%20University/HONThesis/LeightonSurridge_PickingUpThreads.pdf
- Marshall, Denise. "Slaying the Angel and the Patriarch: The Grinning Woolf." Women's Studies, vol. 15, no. 1–3, Sept. 1988, p. 149-77. EBSCOhost,

 https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip&db=asn&AN=5811590&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Price, Fiona. "'A Great Deal of History': Romantic Women Writers and Historical Fiction." Women's Writing, vol. 19, no. 3, pp. 259-272, DOI: 10.1080/09699082.2012.666413

- Rodale, Maya. Dangerous Books for Girls: The Bad Reputations of Romance Novels Explained. 2015.
- Rosenbaum, Susan. Introduction. Women & Fiction: The Manuscript Versions of A Room of One's Own, Virginia Woolf, Library of Congress, 1992, pp. xiii-xlv.
- Senior, Jennifer. "Camp Is Canceled. Three More Months of Family Time. Help." The *New York Times*. 2020. https://www.nytimes.com/2020/05/24/opinion/coronavirus-parents-work-from-home.html
- Sheikh, Sheheryar B. "The Walls That Emancipate: Disambiguation of the 'Room' in A Room of One's Own." Journal of Modern Literature, vol. 42, no. 1, Fall 2018, pp. 19–31.

 EBSCOhost,
 - https://libproxy.eku.edu/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true& AuthType=ip&db=asn&AN=133598868&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Woolf, Virginia. *A Room of One's Own*. 1929. New York, Foundation Press; Albatross Publishers, 2015.
- ---. Women & Fiction: The Manuscript Versions of A Room of One's Own. Transcribed and Edited by S.P. Rosenbaum. Oxford: Shakespeare Head Press, 1992.

Works Consulted

- Antony, Omana, and Sandhya Tiwari. "Visibility for Women in the Works of George Elliot and Virginia Woolf." *Feminism and Feminist Issues*, 2018, pp. 66-87.

 https://acrobat.adobe.com/link/review?uri=urn:aaid:scds:US:55245999-3776-3177-8aaf-dbf0b767ae8c
- Boyd, Anne E. "Writing for Immortality: Women Writers and the Emergence of High literary Culture in America." Johns Hopkins University Press, 2004.
- Charnell-White, Cathryn A. "Problems of Authorship and Attribution: The Welsh-Language Women's Canon Before 1800." *Women's Writing*, vol. 24, no. 4, Jan. 2017, pp. 398–417. https://doi.org/10.1080/09699082.2016.1268336
- Comet, Noah. "Nineteenth-Century Women Writers and the Classical Inheritance: Introduction."

 Women's Studies, vol. 40, no. 4, June 2011, pp. 399–403. *EBSCOhost*,

 https://libproxy.eku.edu/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&

 AuthType=ip&db=asn&AN=60106508&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Evans, Robert. "Men and Women / Truth and Lies in Two Intriguing Poems from the English Renaissance." Salem Press, 2022, pp. 91-103.

 https://acrobat.adobe.com/link/review?uri=urn:aaid:scds:US:61a95dcb-af4c-30f1-9e3c-0016280833f1
- Goldberg, Jonathan. "The Female Pen: Writing as a Woman." *Language Machines:*Technologies of Literary and Cultural Production, edited by Jeffery Masten, Pete Stallybrass and Nancy Vickers, Routledge, 1997, pp. 17-38.

- Hollis, Catherine. Do it Yourself Modernism: Collaboration, Gender, and the Production of Books. 2001. University of California, Berkeley. PhD Dissertation. ProQuest Information and Learning.
- Krawczyk, Scott T. Romantic Collaboration: Familial Authorship From Barbauld to Shelley.

 2004. University of Pennsylvania. PhD Dissertation. ProQuest Information and

 Learning.
- Logan, Lisa M. "Columbia's Daughter in Drag; or, Cross-Dressing, Collaboration, and Authorship in Early American Novels." *Feminist Interventions in Early American Studies*, edited by Mary C. (ed. and introd.) Carruth, University of Alabama Press, 2006, pp. 240–52. *EBSCOhost*, research.ebsco.com/linkprocessor/plink?id=6715e868-8f3d-30a2-9b2d-99a58f64ffde.
- Leighton, Mary Elizabeth, and Lisa Surridge. "Picking Up Threads: Women and Labour in the Nineteenth Century, *Women's Writing*, vol. 27, no. 4, 2020, pp. 399-403, DOI: 10.1080/09699082.2020.1775764.
- Mercer, Anna. "'Something to say upon Women's Inconstancy': Fickleness and Fleeting
 Infatuation in the Shelley's and Beyond." *English Studies*, vol. 104, no. 3, 2023, pp. 460477. DOI: 10.1080/0013838X.2023.2185998
- Saloman, Randi. "'Unsolved Problems': Essayism, Counterfactuals, and the Futures of *A Room of One's Own*." *Tulsa Studies in Women's Literature*. Vol. 32, no 1, 2013, pp. 53-73. https://www.jstor.org/stable/43653364
- Solomon, Julie Robin. "Staking Ground: The Politics of Space in Virginia Woolf's A Room of One's Own and Three Guineas." Women's Studies, vol. 16, no. 3/4, Mar. 1989, p. 331-347. EBSCOhost,

https://libproxy.eku.edu/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true& AuthType=ip&db=asn&AN=5813472&site=ehost-live&scope=site

Stevenson, Christina. "'Here Was One Room, There Another': The Room, Authorship, and Feminine Desire *in A Room of One's Own* and *Mrs. Dalloway. Pacific Coast Philology*, vol. 49, no. 1, 2014, pp. 112-132.

https://www.jstor.org/stable/10.5325/pacicoasphil.49.1.0112

Vandenberghe, Fauve. "'Domestic Houseflies' and 'Giant Cucumbers': Virginia Woolf's

Feminist Literary Criticism and Women Writers of the Long Eighteenth Century."

Women's Writing, vol. 30, no. 2, May 2023, pp. 91–108. EBSCOhost,

file:///C:/Users/Lauren/OneDrive%20
%20Eastern%20Kentucky%20University/HONThesis/VandenbergheFauve_DomesticHousewives.pdf

- Walsh, Kelley S. "'What a Difference a Tail Makes': Woolf, Modernism, Feminist

 Posthumanism." *Feminist Studies in English Literature*, vol. 27, no. 1, 2019, pp. 177-203.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.15796/fsel.2019.27.1.006
- Wood, Gillian D'Arcy. "'Have You Met Miss Ford?' or, Accomplishment Revisited. *European Romantic Review.* vol. 23, no. 3, 2012, pp. 283-291. https://doi.org/10.1080/10509585.2012.674255